ROSETTA

FLIGHT REPORTS of RPC-MAG

RO-IGEP-TR0028

Step by Step Calibration Procedure for RPC-MAG Data

Issue: 1 Revision: 0

February 8, 2010

Ingo Richter

e-mail: i.richter@tu-bs.de Institut für Geophysik und extraterrestrische Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig Mendelssohnstraße 3, 38106 Braunschweig Germany

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
$\Pi \cup \Im \Box \square \square \Pi$	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLP Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	i

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
2	App	plicable Documents	1
3	Gro	ound Calibration	2
	3.1	Mathematical Description of the Ground Calibration	2
		3.1.1 Basic Principle	2
		3.1.2 Temperature Effects	3
		3.1.2.1 Temperature Influence on the OFFSET	4
		3.1.2.2 Temperature Influence on the SENSITIVITY	5
		3.1.2.3 Temperature Influence on the ALIGNMENT	6
	3.2	Ground Calibration Coefficients	$\overline{7}$
		3.2.1 Final Results for the Flight IB Sensor	8
		3.2.1.1 Offset	8
		$3.2.1.2 \text{Sensitivity} \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $	8
		$3.2.1.3$ Alignment \ldots	10
		3.2.2 Final Results for the Flight OB Sensor	11
		$3.2.2.1 \text{Offset} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	11
		$3.2.2.2$ Sensitivity \ldots	11
		3.2.2.3 Alignment	13
		3.2.3 Calibration of the Sensor Thermistors	14
4	Ster	p by Step Processing of measured Flight Data	16
	4.1	Generation of EDITED Raw Data	16
		4.1.1 Housekeeping Data	17
		4.1.2 Science Data	18
	4.2	Generation of LEVEL_A Data	19
		4.2.1 Housekeeping Data	19
		4.2.1.1 Conversion of ADC Counts to Magnetic field Values	19
		4.2.1.2 Conversion of ADC Counts to Voltages	20
		4.2.1.3 Data Availability	22
		4.2.2 Science Data	23
		4.2.2.1 Conversion of ADC Counts to Magnetic field Values	23
		4.2.2.2 Application of Ground Calibration Results	24
		4.2.2.3 Offset Calculation using the Extended Temperature Model	25
		4.2.2.4 Application of Filter Mode dependent Time Shifts	26
	4.3	Generation of LEVEL_B Data	28
		4.3.1 Rotation from Instrument Coordinates to s/c–Coordinates	28
	4.4	Generation of LEVEL_C Data	29
		4.4.1 Rotation from s/c–Coordinates to Celestial Coordinates	29
	4.5	Generation of LEVEL_D Data	31
	4.6	Generation of LEVEL_E Data	31
	4.7	Generation of LEVEL_F Data	32
	4.8	Generation of LEVEL_G Data	33

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
$ \Pi \cup \Im \Box I I A$	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGEP Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	ii

A	Abbreviations	48
	4.13 Generation of LEVEL_L Data	. 47
	4.12.2 Heater Disturbance Elimination: Method 2	. 45
	4.12.1 Heater Disturbance Elimination: Method 1	. 39
	4.12 Generation of LEVEL_K Data	. 37
	4.11 Generation of LEVEL_J Data	. 37
	4.10 Generation of LEVEL_I Data	. 36
	4.9 Generation of LEVEL_H Data	. 34

	Document: RO-IGEP-TR0028 Issue: 1
ICFP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Revision: 0

1 Introduction

This document describes calibration of the RPCMAG magnetic field data. Prior to launch intensive testing and a complete calibration of the instrument has been executed at the Magnetic Coil Facility *MAGNETSRODE*, operated by the Institute for Geophysics and extraterrestrical Physics, Technische Universität Braunschweig. The principle and basic parameters obtained by this ground calibration is described in detail in section 3.

The evaluated parameters have to be applied in a well defined way to the data measured in space. The step by step procedure leading to various data products is described in section 4 and its subchapters.

2 Applicable Documents

- AD1: Richter I., Rahm M.,RO-IGM-TR-0002, Fluxgate Magnetometer Calibration for Rosetta: Report on the FM and FS Calibration Institut für Geophysik und Meteorologie, Braunschweig, Oktober 2001
- AD2: Othmer C., Richter I., RO-IGM-TR-0003, Fluxgate Magnetometer Calibration for Rosetta: Analysis of the FM Calibration Institut für Geophysik und Meteorologie, Braunschweig, Oktober 2001
- AD3: Eichelberger H., Schwingenschuh K., Aydogar O., Baumjohann W. RO-IWF-TR0001, Calibration Report, Sample Rate and Frequency Response - Analysis of ROSETTA RPC-MAG IWF Graz, January 2002
- AD4: Richter I., RO-IGEP-TR-0007, RPC-MAG Software DDS2PDS User Manual Institut für Geophysik und extraterrestrische Physik, Braunschweig, January 2010
- AD5: Richter I., Diedrich A., Glassmeier K.H. RO-IGEP-TR-0009, EAICD, ROSETTA-RPC-MAG To Planetary Science Archive Interface Control Document Institut für Geophysik und extraterrestrische Physik, Braunschweig, January 2010
- AD6: Rosetta Mission Control System (RMCS) Data Delivery Interface Document, DDID, RO-ESC-IF-5003
- AD7: Diedrich A., Glassmeier K.-H., Richter I., RO-IGEP-TN0001, RPCMAG Internal Packet Definitions, Institut für Geophysik und extraterrestrische Physik, Technische Universität Braunschweig
- AD8: Lee C., PIU Magnetometer Processing Software Overview, RO-RPC-MA-6007
- AD9: Richter, I., Cupido E., ROSETTA PLASMA CONSORTIUM USERS MAN-UAL, RO-RPC-UM

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 2

3 Ground Calibration

3.1 Mathematical Description of the Ground Calibration

3.1.1 Basic Principle

The Magnetsrode Coil Facility (MCF) generates an artificial magnetic field \underline{B}^c that can be considered as a calibrated, orthogonal magnetic reference field^{a)}. The magnetometer under test at the center of the coil system (CoC) generates magnetic raw data \underline{B}^r . These data include an eventually existing residual field of the coil system \underline{B}^{res} and the magnetometer offset \underline{B}^{off} .

$$\underline{B}^{or} = \underline{B}^{off} + \underline{B}^{res}$$

Therefore, the first step of the calibration is the generation of offset and residual field corrected measured field data \underline{B}^m :

$$\underline{B}^m = \underline{B}^r - \underline{B}^{or}$$

The actual offset and residual field is automatically taken into account during the calibration analysis. Either a constant field or - if needed - a linear trend of \underline{B}^{or} is subtracted from the raw data.

The relation between the calibration field and the magnetometer data is then defined by

$$\underline{B}^m = \underline{F} \ \underline{B}^c$$

where $\underline{\underline{F}}$ is the complete calibration transfer matrix, defined by

$$\underline{\underline{F}} = \underline{\underline{S}} \ \underline{\underline{O}} \ \underline{\underline{R}}.$$

 $\underline{S}(T)$ represents the temperature dependent sensitivity.

 $\underline{O}(T)$ describes the temperature dependent internal sensor misalignment (orthogonalisation matrix).

R(T) describes the rotation of the sensor against the coil axes.^{b)}

The calibration algorithms compute the inverse matrices:

^{a)}During the calibration the temperature dependent sensitivity of the coil system is calculated every 3 minutes and taken into account as well as the static misalignment of the coil system to produce orthogonal, known fields.

^{b)}Also the rotation matrix is regarded as temperature dependent being able to consider any thermal setup inadequacies causing fractional rotations.

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
Ι GΓΓ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	3

These matrices have the following shape:

$$\begin{split} \underline{\sigma} &= \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma_{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sigma_{3} \end{pmatrix} , \\ \underline{\omega} &= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cos \xi_{xy} & \cos \xi_{xz} \\ 0 & \sin \xi_{xy} & \frac{\cos \xi_{yz} - \cos \xi_{xy} \cos \xi_{xz}}{\sin \xi_{xy}} \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\sin^{2} \xi_{xz}} - \frac{(\cos \xi_{yz} - \cos \xi_{xy} \cos \xi_{xz})^{2}}{\sin^{2} \xi_{xy}} \end{pmatrix} , \\ \underline{\rho} &= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos \lambda & -\sin \lambda \\ 0 & \sin \lambda & \cos \lambda \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \mu & 0 & \sin \mu \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -\sin \mu & 0 & \cos \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \nu & -\sin \nu & 0 \\ \sin \nu & \cos \nu & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

The rotation matrix $\underline{\underline{R}}$ is of interest just for the calibration to determine the right magnetometer parameters. The transfer function for the normal use of the magnetometer is just given by

$$\underline{\phi} = \underline{\omega} \underline{\sigma}$$

3.1.2 Temperature Effects

In the last section the basic principle of calibrating a linear sensor has been described. Now the important question of temperature dependence shall be discussed. Three aspects will be considered:

- Temperature influence on the OFFSET.
- Temperature influence on the SENSITIVITY.
- Temperature influence on the ALIGNMENT.

The temperature parameters were measured during the ground calibration at the Magnetsrode Coil Facility. To save some time, the two sensors IB and OB, were tested in parallel. For this purpose they were both placed in the temperature box. Thus, one sensor is fixed a few centimeters north and the other one is some centimeters south of CoC. Therefore, the calibration field acting at these positions is not the same as the reference field at CoC used for the other calibration tasks.

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
$ \Pi \cup \Im \Box \square \square \square A$	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICDD Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	4

For this reason a special algorithm described below was developed to deduce the "true" temperature effects from the measurements with a slightly "wrong" field.

3.1.2.1 Temperature Influence on the OFFSET

Offset measurements are executed under zero field condition. Therefore, no geometrical problem, mentioned above, arises.

There are two methods to obtain the sensor offsets:

1. Assuming a properly working facility the residual field of the coil system \underline{B}^{res} stays constant. This constant residual field has to be determined before the thermal measurements and must be subtracted to get the offset. The residual field determination and nulling is a standard procedure before any calibration.

The temperature dependence of the offset can generally be computed as

$$\underline{B}^{off}(T) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \underline{B}_{k}^{off} \cdot T^{k} - \underline{B}^{res}$$

The polynomial coefficients \underline{B}_k^{off} are evaluated by the analysis software using a polynomial fit of zerofield measurements $\underline{B}^{off}(T_i)$ at all temperature levels T_i available.

2. A more accurate method uses the usual sensor rotations by 180° around two main axes to obtain the sensor offsets. Adding the measurement values from the normal and the turned position reveals the sensor offset

$$\underline{B}^{off}(T_i) = \frac{\underline{B}_{0^\circ}^r(T_i) + \underline{B}_{180^\circ}^r(T_i)}{2},$$

subtracting yields the coils system residual field:

$$\underline{B}^{res}(t) = \frac{\underline{B}_{0^{\circ}}^{r}(t) - \underline{B}_{180^{\circ}}^{r}(t)}{2},$$

This residual field is only time dependent and not a function of the sensor temperature. The temperature dependence of the sensor can then be determined using a polynomial fit of all complete sets of offset measurements $\underline{B}^{off}(T_i)$ at the specific temperature levels T_i :

$$\underline{B}^{off}(T) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \underline{B}_{k}^{off} \cdot T^{k}$$

For the ROSETTA ground calibration it was not possible to rotate the sensor by 180° whilst operated inside the temperature box. Therefore the first method had to be applied for measuring the temperature dependence of the offset. Thus the sum of offset and residual field were measured. This means that the constant residual field has to be subtracted

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 5

to get the offset. It can be determined by comparing the standard offset measurements $(180^{\circ} \text{ sensor flipping at CoC})$ at the reference temperature T_1 with the "temperature offset measurement" (i.e. the offset as determined during the temperature cycle) at T_1 .

Combining all this, the offsets for the ROSETTA sensors are expressed as

$$\underline{B}^{off} = \underline{a}_0 + \underline{a}_1 \cdot T$$

The fit-coefficients a_i are provided in the delivered calibration files.

3.1.2.2 Temperature Influence on the SENSITIVITY

The standard temperature model for a FGM sensor assumes a linear temperature dependence of the sensitivity. Therefore, the sensitivity components can be described as follows:

$$\sigma_i(T) = \sigma_{0,i} + \sigma_{1,i} \cdot T$$

Here $\sigma_{0,i}$ assigns the offset and $\sigma_{1,i}$ the slope of the ith component of the sensitivity. Performing measurements at CoC would reveal exactly this behavior. As, however, the measurements are taken at an off-CoC position one gets a slightly different law

$$\sigma_i^1(T) = \sigma_{0,i}^1 + \sigma_{1,i}^1 \cdot T$$

where the 1 in the exponent assigns the off-CoC position.

At CoC just the reference sensitivity $\sigma_i^0(T_1)$ measured at T_1 is known (upper index 0 denotes CoC position) from an independent measurement outside the T-cycle. Thus the problem is the calculation of the temperature dependent sensitivity at CoC

$$\sigma_i^0(T) = \sigma_{0,i}^0 + \sigma_{1,i}^0 \cdot T$$

from the known coefficients.

Solution:

For the temperature T_1 the sensitivities at different places inside the coil system should only differ by a constant geometry correction factor

$$k_i = \frac{\sigma_i^1(T_1)}{\sigma_i^0(T_1)}.$$

As this factor is a temperature independent coil system parameter, $\sigma^0_i(T)$ can be deduced by

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
ТGLГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	6

$$\sigma_i^0(T) = \frac{1}{k_i} \ \sigma_i^1(T).$$

Hence

$$\sigma_i^0(T) = \frac{1}{k_i} \left(\sigma_{0,i}^1 + \sigma_{1,i}^1 \cdot T \right)$$

delivers the desired result.

3.1.2.3 Temperature Influence on the ALIGNMENT

For the alignment a linear temperature dependency of the misalignment angles ξ_{xy} , ξ_{xz} , ξ_{yz} is assumed.

$$\xi_{ij}(T) = \xi_{0,ij} + \xi_{1,ij} \cdot T$$

Here $\xi_{0,ij}$ assigns the offset and $\xi_{1,ij}$ the slope of the ij–angle of the misalignment. Performing measurements at CoC would reveal exactly this behavior. As, however, the measurement are taken at an off–CoC position one gets a slightly different law

$$\xi_{ij}^1(T) = \xi_{0,ij}^1 + \xi_{1,ij}^1 \cdot T$$

where the 1 in the exponent assigns the off-CoC position.

At CoC just the reference angles $\xi_{ij}^0(T_1)$ measured at T_1 are known (upper limit 0 denotes CoC position) from an independent measurement. Thus the problem is the calculation of the temperature dependent angles at CoC

$$\xi_{ij}^0(T) = \xi_{0,ij}^0 + \xi_{1,ij}^0 \cdot T$$

from the known coefficients, or more precisely, to get the temperature dependent orthogonalisation matrix

$$(\underline{\underline{\omega}^{0}})(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T)) & \cos(\xi_{xz}^{0}(T)) \\ 0 & \sin(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T)) & \frac{\cos(\xi_{yz}^{0}(T)) - \cos(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T)) \cdot \cos(\xi_{xz}^{0}(T))}{\sin(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T))} \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\sin^{2}(\xi_{xz}^{0}(T)) - (\omega^{0}(1,2))^{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$

at CoC.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 7

Solution:

The consideration of the sensitivity revealed a geometrical correction factor k_i which defines the transfer from off–CoC position to the CoC.

In the case of the alignment angles, however, a constant scalar factor is not the right tool to transform the angles, as these angles appear in cosine-terms of the orthogonalisation matrix. Therefore, the transformation is made by a geometrical correction matrix \underline{K} which is defined by the orthogonalisation ratio of measurements at CoC and an off–CoC position at constant temperature T_1 .

$$\underline{\underline{K}} = (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^0)^{-1}(T_1) \cdot (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^1)(T_1)$$

As this matrix is a temperature independent coil system parameter, the desired orthogonalisation matrix $\omega^0(T)$ can be deduced by

$$(\underline{\underline{\omega}}^{0})(T) = (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^{1})(T) \cdot \underline{\underline{K}}^{-1}$$

Hence

$$(\underline{\omega^{0}})(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) & \cos(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T)) \\ 0 & \sin(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) & \frac{\cos(\xi_{yz}^{1}(T)) - \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) \cdot \cos(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T))}{\sin(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T))} \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\sin^{2}(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T)) - (\omega^{1}(1,2))^{2}} \end{pmatrix} \cdot \underline{K}^{-1}$$

delivers the desired result.

3.2 Ground Calibration Coefficients

For the ROSETTA mission it was decided to fly this magnetometer configuration:

Unit	Selection
DPU	FS
IB–Sensor	FM–IB
OB-Sensor	FM–OB

Accordingly the calibration coefficients are available in the ground calibration files $\tt RPCMAG_O01_CALIB_FSDPU_FMIB.TXT$

RPCMAG_001_CALIB_FSDPU_FMOB.TXT

for the Inboard and Outboard sensor operated with the Flight Spare Digital Processing unit (FSDPU) actually flying onboard ROSETTA. These files are delivered in the CALIB directory.

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
$ \Pi \cup \Im \Box \Box \Box \Box A$	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
ТССГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	8

3.2.1 Final Results for the Flight IB Sensor

3.2.1.1 Offset

The sensor offset obeys the equation

$$\underline{B}^{off} = \underline{a}_0 + \underline{a}_1 \cdot T - \underline{B}^{res}$$

The calibration revealed:

\underline{a}_0 [nT]	$\underline{a}_1 [nT/K]$	\underline{B}^{res} [nT]
114.3	-0.565	-2.0
-119.8	0.731	2.0
494.0	-1.673	-15.0

These coefficients are labeled A₋0 and A₋1 in the calibration files.

3.2.1.2 Sensitivity

Reference Temperature for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement: $T_1 = 17.39$ [°C]

Reference Sensitivities for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement at T_1 at CoC:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \sigma_x^0(T_1) \ [1] & \sigma_y^0(T_1) \ [1] & \sigma_z^0(T_1) \ [1] \\ \hline 1.09045 & 1.09418 & 1.09398 \end{array}$$

The coefficients from the temperature calibration at the off-center position are

The geometrical correction coefficient \underline{k} , caused by the 2 different positions during the

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICDD Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
Ι GΓΓ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	9

linearity measurements and the temperature measurements is defined by

$$k_i = \frac{\sigma_i^1(T_1)}{\sigma_i^0(T_1)}$$

The evaluation reveals

Using this factor the desired temperature dependence of the sensitivity

$$\sigma_i^0(T) = \frac{1}{k_i} \left(\sigma_{0,i}^1 + \sigma_{1,i}^1 \cdot T \right)$$

can be evaluated. The needed coefficients

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma^{0}_{0,i} &:= \ \frac{1}{k_i} \left(\sigma^{1}_{0,i} \right) \\ \sigma^{0}_{1,i} &:= \ \frac{1}{k_i} \left(\sigma^{1}_{1,i} \right) \end{aligned}$$

for the sensitivity

$$(S_{ii})^{-1} =: \sigma_i^0 = \sigma_{0,i}^0 + \sigma_{1,i}^0 \cdot T$$

are:

$\sigma^{0}_{0,x}$ [1]	$\sigma^{0}_{0,y}$ [1]	$\sigma^{0}_{0,z}$ [1]
1.09070	1.09434	1.09413

$\sigma_{1,x}^0 \ [1/\mathrm{K}]$	$\sigma_{1,y}^0 \; [1/{ m K}]$	$\sigma_{1,z}^0 \; [1/{ m K}]$
-1.42E-005	-9.30E-006	-8.55E-006

These coefficients are labeled SIGMA_00 and SIGMA_01 in the calibration files.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 10

3.2.1.3 Alignment

Reference Temperature for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement: $T_1 = 17.39$ [°C] Reference Misalignment for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement at T_1 at CoC:

$$\frac{\xi_{xy}^{0}(T_{1}) [\circ] | \xi_{xz}^{0}(T_{1}) [\circ] | \xi_{yz}^{0}(T_{1}) [\circ]}{90.0463 | 89.9416 | 89.9500}$$

The alignment coefficients obtained from the temperature calibration at the off-center position are

$$\frac{\xi_{0,xy}^{1} [\circ] | \xi_{0,xz}^{1} [\circ] | \xi_{0,yz}^{1} [\circ]}{90.0348 | 89.9587 | 89.9433}$$

$$\frac{\xi_{1,xy}^{1}}{8.54\text{E}-005} \quad \begin{array}{c} \xi_{1,xz}^{1} \quad [^{\circ}/\text{K}] \quad \xi_{1,yz}^{1} \quad [^{\circ}/\text{K}] \\ 8.54\text{E}-005 \quad 3.71\text{E}-005 \quad 1.20\text{E}-004 \end{array}$$

The geometrical correction matrix $\underline{\underline{K}}$, caused by the 2 different positions during the linearity measurements and the temperature measurements is defined by

$$\underline{\underline{K}} = (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^0)^{-1}(T_1) \cdot (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^1)(T_1)$$

with the inverse misalignment matrix $\underline{\underline{\omega}} =: \underline{\underline{O}}^{-1}$, consisting of the direction cosines $\cos(\xi_{ij})$. The evaluation reveals

	1.00000	-0.00017	0.00031	
$(\underline{\underline{K}})^{-1} =$	0.00000	1.00000	-0.00008	
	0.00000	0.00000	1.00000	

Using this matrix the desired temperature dependence of the alignment

$$(\underline{\underline{\omega}}^0)(T) = (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^1)(T) \cdot \underline{\underline{K}}^{-1}$$

can be evaluated. $(\underline{\omega}^0)(T)$ results as

$$(\underline{\underline{\omega}}^{0})(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) \\ 0 & \sin(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) & \frac{\cos(\xi_{yz}^{1}(T)) - \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) \cdot \cos(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T))}{\sin(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T))} \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\sin^{2}(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T)) - (\omega^{1}(1,2))^{2}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1.00000 & -0.00017 & 0.00031 \\ 0.00000 & 1.00000 & -0.00008 \\ 0.00000 & 0.00000 & 1.00000 \end{pmatrix}$$

with

$$\xi^1_{ij}(T) = \xi^1_{0,ij} + \xi^1_{1,ij} \cdot T$$

These coefficients are labeled XI_10 and XI_11 in the calibration files. The elements of the $\underline{\underline{K}}^{-1}$ matrix are labeled K_0, K_1, and K_2.

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLP Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	11

3.2.2 Final Results for the Flight OB Sensor

3.2.2.1 Offset

The sensor offset obeys the equation

$\boxed{\underline{B}^{off} = \underline{a}_0 + \underline{a}_1 \cdot T - \underline{B}^{res}}$

The calibration revealed:

$\underline{a}_0 [nT]$	$\underline{a}_1 [nT/K]$	\underline{B}^{res} [nT]
214.5	-1.053	0.0
-79.9	0.073	4.0
384.7	-1.657	-20.0

These coefficients are labeled A₋0 and A₋1 in the calibration files.

3.2.2.2 Sensitivity

Reference Temperature for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement: $T_1 = 17.39$ [°C]

Reference Sensitivities for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement at T_1 at CoC:

$\sigma_x^0(T_1)$ [1]	$\sigma_y^0(T_1)$ [1]	$\sigma_z^0(T_1)$ [1]
1.09079	1.09338	1.09277

The coefficients from the temperature calibration at the off-center position are

The geometrical correction coefficient \underline{k} , caused by the 2 different positions during the

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 12

linearity measurements and the temperature measurements is defined by

$$k_i = \frac{\sigma_i^1(T_1)}{\sigma_i^0(T_1)}$$

The evaluation reveals

Using this factor the desired temperature dependence of the sensitivity

$$\sigma_i^0(T) = \frac{1}{k_i} \left(\sigma_{0,i}^1 + \sigma_{1,i}^1 \cdot T \right)$$

can be evaluated. The needed coefficients

$$egin{array}{rcl} \sigma_{0,i}^{0} & := & rac{1}{k_{i}} \left(\sigma_{0,i}^{1}
ight) \ \sigma_{1,i}^{0} & := & rac{1}{k_{i}} \left(\sigma_{1,i}^{1}
ight) \end{array}$$

for the sensitivity

$$(S_{ii})^{-1} =: \sigma_i^0 = \sigma_{0,i}^0 + \sigma_{1,i}^0 \cdot T$$

are:

$\sigma_{0,x}^0$ [1]	$\sigma^{0}_{0,y}$ [1]	$\sigma^{0}_{0,z}$ [1]
1.09100	1.09352	1.09289

$\sigma_{1,x}^0 \; [1/\mathrm{K}]$	$\sigma_{1,y}^0 \; [1/{ m K}]$	$\sigma_{1,z}^0 \; [1/{ m K}]$
-1.18E-005	-8.21E-006	-6.97E-006

These coefficients are labeled SIGMA_00 and SIGMA_01 in the calibration files.

ROS	ЕТТА	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
	Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Revision: Date:	0 February 8, 2010
IGEL	Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	

3.2.2.3 Alignment

Reference Temperature for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement: $T_1 = 17.39$ [°C] Reference Misalignment for Linearity/Sphere–Measurement at T_1 at CoC:

The alignment coefficients obtained from the temperature calibration at the off-center position are

$\xi_{0,xy}^1$ [°]	$\xi_{0,xz}^1$ [°]	$\xi^1_{0,yz}$ [°]
90.0666	6 90.0366	90.0370
$\xi_{1,xy}^1 [^{\circ}/\mathrm{K}]$	$\xi_{1,xz}^1$ [°/K]	$\xi_{1,yz}^{1}$ [°/K]
-6.04E-005	-1.11E-004	-8.12E-005

The geometrical correction matrix $\underline{\underline{K}}$, caused by the 2 different positions during the linearity measurements and the temperature measurements is defined by

$$\underline{\underline{K}} = (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^0)^{-1}(T_1) \cdot (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^1)(T_1)$$

with the inverse misalignment matrix $\underline{\underline{\omega}} =: \underline{\underline{O}}^{-1}$, consisting of the direction cosines $\cos(\xi_{ij})$. The evaluation reveals

			0.00028
$(\underline{K})^{-1} =$	0.00000	1.00000	-0.00038
	0.00000	0.00000	1.00000

Using this matrix the desired temperature dependence of the alignment

$$(\underline{\underline{\omega}}^{0})(T) = (\underline{\underline{\omega}}^{1})(T) \cdot \underline{\underline{K}}^{-1}$$

can be evaluated. $(\underline{\omega}^0)(T)$ results as

$$\underbrace{\left(\underline{\omega}^{0}\right)(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) \\ 0 & \sin(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) & \frac{\cos(\xi_{yz}^{1}(T)) - \cos(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T)) \cdot \cos(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T))}{\sin(\xi_{xy}^{1}(T))} \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\sin^{2}(\xi_{xz}^{1}(T)) - (\omega^{1}(1,2))^{2}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1.00000 & -0.00010 & 0.00028 \\ 0.00000 & 1.00000 & -0.00038 \\ 0.00000 & 0.00000 & 1.00000 \end{pmatrix}$$
 with
$$\underbrace{\left[\xi_{ij}^{1}(T) = \xi_{0,ij}^{1} + \xi_{1,ij}^{1} \cdot T \right]}$$

$$\xi_{ij}^1(T) = \xi_{0,ij}^1 + \xi_{1,ij}^1 \cdot T$$

These coefficients are labeled XI_10 and XI_11 in the calibration files. The elements of the \underline{K}^{-1} matrix are labeled K_0, K_1, and K_2.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 14

3.2.3 Calibration of the Sensor Thermistors

The sensor temperatures are measured using standard PT1000 thermistors inside the sensors. Table 1 showes a part of the manufacturer's provided nominal function derived from the following third order polynomial functions T(U).

$$T(U) = c_0 + c_1 U + c_2 U^2 + c_3 U^3$$

with

$c_0 = -368.61072$
$c_1 = 458.49304$
$c_2 = -356.02890$
$c_3 = 180.00644$

T [°C]	$R(T) [\Omega]$	U(T) [V]	$T [^{\circ}C]$	$R(T) [\Omega]$	U(T) [V]
-150.000	423.219	0.743420	10.0000	1039.14	1.27399
-140.000	461.402	0.789310	20.0000	1078.40	1.29715
-130.000	499.567	0.832850	30.0000	1117.77	1.31951
-120.000	537.730	0.874230	40.0000	1157.26	1.34112
-110.000	575.906	0.913610	50.0000	1196.86	1.36201
-100.000	614.108	0.951160	60.0000	1236.58	1.38222
-90.0000	652.351	0.987000	70.0000	1276.41	1.40178
-80.0000	690.646	1.02128	80.0000	1316.36	1.42072
-70.0000	729.005	1.05408	90.0000	1356.43	1.43907
-60.0000	767.436	1.08552	100.000	1396.60	1.45686
-50.0000	805.950	1.11569	110.000	1436.90	1.47411
-40.0000	844.555	1.14466	120.000	1477.31	1.49084
-30.0000	883.256	1.17251	130.000	1517.84	1.50708
-20.0000	922.061	1.19931	140.000	1558.48	1.52286
-10.0000	960.974	1.22512	150.000	1599.24	1.53818
0.000000	1000.00	1.25000			

Table 1: Calibration data for the sensor PT1000 thermistor, nominal data provided by the manufacturer.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 15

Therefore, the raw temperature T_s^r of sensor s (s={IB | OB}), measured in [e°C], is obtained by applying the polynomial coefficients to the sensor output voltage.

$$T_{\rm IB}^r(U_{\rm T,IB}) = c_0 + c_1 U_{\rm T,IB} + c_2 U_{\rm T,IB}^2 + c_3 U_{\rm T,IB}^3$$

$$T_{\rm OB}^r(U_{\rm T,OB}) = c_0 + c_1 U_{\rm T,OB} + c_2 U_{\rm T,OB}^2 + c_3 U_{\rm T,OB}^3$$

The temperature calibration at Magnetsrode revealed that the following temperature offsets have to be considered to get the calibrated temperature data T_s^c in °C.

$$T_{\rm IB}^O = -1.5 \ ^\circ \mathrm{C}$$
$$T_{\rm OB}^O = -2.7 \ ^\circ \mathrm{C}$$

$$T_{\rm IB}^c = T_{\rm IB}^r - T_{\rm IB}^O$$
$$T_{\rm OB}^c = T_{\rm OB}^r - T_{\rm OB}^O$$

In the calibration file the polynomial coefficients c_i are labeled T_0, T_1, T_2, T_3 and the thermistor offset correction $T_{\text{IB,OB}}^O$ is denoted T_OFF.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 16

4 Step by Step Processing of measured Flight Data

In the last section it was described how the parameters characterizing a fluxgate sensor were obtained. The present section shows now in detail how these parameters and additional entities have to be applied to convert the received binary telemetry data from the s/c into scientific usable data of various levels. The data products themselves and the differences between the levels are described in the AD5.

4.1 Generation of EDITED Raw Data

The ROSETTA s/c transmits the binary data from the RPC-MAG instrument via the RPC-PIU, the OBDH, the HGA, and deep space antennae to the DDS at ESOC were the data are stored in binary format. That format is described in AD6,AD7, and AD9.

These binary data are input of the RPCMAG RAW2ASCII s/w which converts the binary data into human readable ASCII data. This conversion from binary to ASCII data is straight forward according to the packet definitions described in AD6, AD7, and AD9 and not subject of the document in hand.

After the conversion Housekeeping (HK) and science data are available in the format of ADC counts. Magnetic field data are given in individual instrument coordinates. The relation between these individual unit reference frames (URF) of each sensor wrt. the s/c coordinates is defined in the RPCMAG_SC_ALIGN.TXT file to be found in the CALIB directory as as well as in the SPICE frame kernel file ROS_V15_MAG.TF to be found on the ESA server.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 17

4.1.1 Housekeeping Data

The following data are available:

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
T_OB	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG OUTBOARD SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
T_IB	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG INBOARD SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
STAGE_A_ID	FILTER TYPE IDENTIFICATION FLAG A
STAGE_B_ID	FILTER TYPE IDENTIFICATION FLAG B
FILTER_CFG	FILTER CONFIGURATION FLAG
MAG_REF_VOLTAGE	MAGNETOMETER REFERENCE VOLTAGE: 2.5 V.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
MAG_NEG_VOLTAGE	MAGNETOMETER NEGATIVE SUPPLY VOLTAGE:-5V.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
MAG_POS_VOLTAGE	MAGNETOMETER POSITIVE SUPPLY VOLTAGE:+5V.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
BX_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN 16 BIT ADC_COUNTS
BY_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN 16 BIT ADC_COUNTS
BZ_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN 16 BIT ADC_COUNTS

These HK data are not needed for the calibration of science data. They only provide auxiliary information about the instrument status.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 18

4.1.2 Science Data

The following data are available:

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
BX_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN 20 BIT ADC_COUNTS
BY_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN 20 BIT ADC_COUNTS
BZ_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN 20 BIT ADC_COUNTS
T_OB	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG OUTBOARD SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
T_IB	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG INBOARD SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN ADC_COUNTS
QUALITY	THE DATA QUALITY IS CODED FOR EACH VECTOR.
	CODE: $0 =$ GOOD DATA; $1 =$ BAD DATA
	EACH SENSOR HAS ITS OWN QUALITY BIT
	BIT0:X, BIT1:Y,BIT2:Z, BIT3=0:OB, BIT3=1 IB

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLI Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	19

4.2 Generation of LEVEL_A Data

The LEVEL_A data are the first step of calibrated data. LEVEL_A HK data are directly obtained from the EDITED RAW by application of the nominal conversion algorithm to convert ADC counts to physical values.

LEVEL_A Science data also take the ground calibration, temperature effects and a specific timeshift into account. Finally data are available in instrument coordinates.

4.2.1 Housekeeping Data

4.2.1.1 Nominal Conversion of ADC Counts to Physical Housekeeping Data: Magnetic Field Values

House keeping magnetic field data are digitized with 16 Bit. The operational range is ± 15000 nT.

Definitions:

$$B_{MAX} = +15000 \text{nT}$$
$$B_{MIN} = -15000 \text{nT}$$
$$COUNTS = 2^{16} = 65536$$
$$FACTOR_{NOMINAL} = \frac{B_{MAX} - B_{MIN}}{COUNTS}$$

The binary values of the 16 bit ADC output are in the range of 0000h : FFFFh corresponding to decimal values of 0 : (COUNTS-1). As the ADC is operated in bipolar mode the nominal relation between counts and magnetic field is as follows:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 0000h & \Longleftrightarrow & B_{MIN} \\ 8000h & \Longleftrightarrow & 0 \\ \text{FFFFh} & \Longleftrightarrow & B_{MAX} \end{array}$$

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 20

to signed integers in the following way

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 0000h \iff -\frac{COUNTS}{2} \\ 8000h \iff 0 \\ \text{FFFFh} \iff +\frac{COUNTS}{2} \end{array}$$

These signed integers in the range from $-\frac{COUNTS}{2}$ to $+\frac{COUNTS}{2}$ are the EDITED RAW DATA. Unit is [counts]. To convert these into uncalibrated [engineering, enT] nanotesla values, the following algorithm is applied:

$$B = [ADC_VALUE + \frac{COUNTS}{2}] * FACTOR_{NOMINAL} + B_{MIN} \ [enT]$$

4.2.1.2 Nominal Conversion of ADC Counts to Physical Housekeeping Data: Voltages

House keeping data contain voltages which are digitized with 16 Bit. The operational range is ± 5 V.

Definitions:

$$U_{MAX} = +2.5V$$

$$U_{MIN} = -2.5V$$

$$COUNTS = 2^{16} = 65536$$

$$FACTOR_{NOMINAL} = \frac{U_{MAX} - U_{MIN}}{COUNTS}$$

The binary values of the 16 bit ADC Output are in the range of 0000h : FFFFh corresponding to decimal values of 0 : (COUNTS-1). As the ADC is operated in bipolar mode the nominal relation between counts and magnetic field is as follows:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 0000h & \Longleftrightarrow & U_{MIN} \\ 8000h & \Longleftrightarrow & 0 \\ FFFFh & \Longleftrightarrow & U_{MAX} \end{array}$$

The conversion routine from binary TM data to ASCII Rawdata converts the binary values to signed integers in the following way

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
ROSETTA	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICDD Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
ТСГГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	21

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 0000h \iff -\frac{COUNTS}{2} \\ 8000h \iff 0 \\ \text{FFFFh} \iff +\frac{COUNTS}{2} \end{array}$$

These signed integers in the range from $-\frac{COUNTS}{2}$ to $+\frac{COUNTS}{2}$ are the EDITED RAW DATA. Unit is [counts]. To convert these into voltages, the following algorithm is applied:

$$U = [ADC_VALUE + \frac{COUNTS}{2}] * FACTOR_{NOMINAL} + U_{MIN} \quad [V]$$

Also the nominal temperatures are computed from HK voltages in a similar way. Some voltages are monitored as 8bit values; the conversion, however, is done in the same way.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 22

4.2.1.3 Data Availability

The following data are available after application of the conversion algorithms described in the last two section:

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
T_OB	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG OUTBOARD SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KELVIN
T_IB	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG INBOARD SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KELVIN
STAGE_A_ID	FILTER TYPE IDENTIFICATION FLAG A
STAGE_B_ID	FILTER TYPE IDENTIFICATION FLAG B
FILTER_CFG	FILTER CONFIGURATION FLAG
MAG_REF_VOLTAGE	MAGNETOMETER REFERENCE VOLTAGE: 2.5 V.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN VOLT
MAG_NEG_VOLTAGE	MAGNETOMETER NEGATIVE SUPPLY VOLTAGE:-5V.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN VOLT
MAG_POS_VOLTAGE	MAGNETOMETER POSITIVE SUPPLY VOLTAGE:+5V.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN VOLT
BX_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ_OB	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, UNCALIBRATED RAW DATA,
	INSTRUMENT COORDINATES, OB-SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA

4.2.2 Science Data

The generation of LEVEL_A Science data is performed in the following steps:

- 1. Eliminate all EDITED RAW data vectors which are labeled as bad (i.e a problem occurred during the transmission in one or more components). Every vector containing a QUALITY flag $\neq 0$ will not be used.
- 2. Transform all remaining the EDITED RAW data (ADC counts) to physical values. This is done using the nominal conversion procedure described in section 4.2.2.1.
- 3. Apply the results of the ground calibration. Refer to section 4.2.2.2.
- 4. Calculate the right offset from the extended temperature model. Refer to section 4.2.2.3.
- 5. Apply right time shift according to actual Filter Mode. Refer to section 4.2.2.4.

4.2.2.1 Nominal Conversion of ADC Counts to Physical Science Data: Magnetic Field Values

Scientific magnetic field data are digitized with 20 Bit. The operational range is ± 15000 nT. Definitions:

$$B_{MAX} = +15000 \text{ nT}$$

$$B_{MIN} = -15000 \text{ nT}$$

$$COUNTS = 2^{20} = 1048576$$

$$FACTOR_{NOMINAL} = \frac{B_{MAX} - B_{MIN}}{COUNTS}$$

The binary values of the 20 bit ADC Output are in the range of 00000h : FFFFFh corresponding to decimal values of 0 : (COUNTS-1). As the ADC is operated in bipolar mode the nominal relation between counts and magnetic field is as follows:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 00000h & \Longleftrightarrow & B_{MIN} \\ 80000h & \Longleftrightarrow & 0 \\ \text{FFFFFh} & \Longleftrightarrow & B_{MAX} \end{array}$$

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 24

The conversion routine from binary TM data to ASCII Rawdata converts the binary values to signed integers in the following way

$$\begin{array}{rcl} 00000h \iff -\frac{COUNTS}{2} \\ 80000h \iff 0 \\ \text{FFFFFh} \iff +\frac{COUNTS}{2} \end{array}$$

These signed integers in the range from $-\frac{COUNTS}{2}$ to $+\frac{COUNTS}{2}$ are the EDITED RAW DATA. Unit is [counts]. To convert these into uncalibrated [engineering, enT] nanotesla values, the following algorithm is applied:

$$B = [ADC_VALUE + \frac{COUNTS}{2}] * FACTOR_{NOMINAL} + B_{MIN} [enT]$$

Also the Housekeeping Reference Voltage is monitored via a 20bit ADC and converted in the same manor.

4.2.2.2 Application of Ground Calibration Results

1. Calibrate the sensor temperatures (ref. to section 3.2.3):

$$T_{\rm IB}^c(U_{\rm T,IB}) = c_0 + c_1 U_{\rm T,IB} + c_2 U_{\rm T,IB}^2 + c_3 U_{\rm T,IB}^3 - T_{\rm IB}^O$$

$$T_{\rm OB}^c(U_{\rm T,OB}) = c_0 + c_1 U_{\rm T,OB} + c_2 U_{\rm T,OB}^2 + c_3 U_{\rm T,OB}^3 - T_{\rm OB}^O$$

The voltages $U_{\rm T,IB}$, and $U_{\rm T,OB}$ are the thermistor EDITED RAW data T_IB and T_OB. from the data file.

2. Calculate the actual, temperature dependent sensor offset (cf. sections 3.2.1.1, 3.2.2.1):

$$B_{s,i}^{off} = a_{s,0} + a_{s,1} \cdot T_s^c$$

3. Generate the offset corrected magnetic field raw data:

$$B_{s,i}^m = B_{s,i}^r - B_{s,i}^{ofj}$$

The $B^r_{s,i}$ values are the converted magnetic field raw data from the last subsection.

4. Calculate the actual, temperature dependent sensitivity (cf. sections 3.2.1.2, 3.2.2.2):

$$(S_{s,ii})^{-1}(T) =: \sigma_{s,i}^0(T) = \sigma_{0,s,i}^0 + \sigma_{1,s,i}^0 \cdot T_s^c$$

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICDD Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
ТСГГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	25

5. Evaluate the temperature dependent sensor misalignment (cf. sections 3.2.1.3, 3.2.2.3):

$$\underline{\underline{O}}_{s}^{-1}(T) =: \underline{\underline{\omega}}_{s}^{0}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cos(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T)) & \cos(\xi_{xz}^{0}(T)) \\ 0 & \sin(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T)) & \frac{\cos(\xi_{yz}^{0}(T)) - \cos(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T)) \cdot \cos(\xi_{xz}^{0}(T))}{\sin(\xi_{xy}^{0}(T))} \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{\sin^{2}(\xi_{xz}^{0}(T)) - (\omega^{0}(1,2))^{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$

6. Apply calibration matrices to produce calibrated data:

$$\underline{\underline{B}}_{s}^{c} = \underline{\underline{O}}_{s}^{-1}(T) \underline{\underline{S}}_{s}^{-1}(T) \underline{\underline{B}}_{s}^{m}$$
$$= \underline{\underline{\omega}}_{s}^{(T)} \underline{\underline{\sigma}}_{s}(T) \underline{\underline{B}}_{s}^{m}$$

4.2.2.3 Offset Calculation using the Extended Temperature Model

During flight the range of the temperature calibration performed on ground in an interval between $-70^{\circ}C \dots +70^{\circ}C$ turned out to be not broad enough. For the lowest temperature measured at the sensor until end of 2009 was about $-140^{\circ}C$. Therefore, a new temperature model (finally we ended up at model 006) was created using the inflight data of calm (according to magnetic field conditions) mission phases. For the sensitivity and the alignment the original linear model derived from the ground calibration is sufficient, but the offset behavior needs to be treated a little more detailed for the extended temperature range. Thus, the inflight magnetic field data are compared with the temperature data and fitted against the temperature by the means of a 3rd order polynomial $P_3(T)$. To improve the quality and to diminish hysteretic effects these additional polynomials are evaluated individually for every day. The polynomial coefficients $p_{s,k,i}$ (sensor s, order k, component i) are stored in the daily calibration files RPCMAG_yymmdd_006_CALIB_DB.TXT and RPCMAG_yymmdd_006_CALIB_DB.TXT. The improvement of the temperature dependency of the sensor offset is done is the following way:

The original ground calibrated data \underline{B}_{s}^{c} (cf. item 6 in section 4.2.2.2) has to be transformed as

$$\underline{B}_{s}^{c,new} = \underline{B}_{s}^{c} - \underline{B}_{off,s}^{new}.$$

Here

$$B_{\text{off},\text{s},\text{i}}^{new}(\tilde{T}_{\text{s}}) = p_{0,s,i} + p_{1,s,i}\tilde{T}_{\text{s}} + p_{2,s,i}\tilde{T}_{\text{s}}^2 + p_{3,s,i}\tilde{T}_{\text{s}}^3$$

describes the polynomial fit of the offset–temperature behavior. As temperature the reduced temperature $\tilde{T} = T_s - T_s^O$ has to be used.

After alle these operations, which have to be performed for every individual vector with the actual parameters, the offset behavior is modelled almost sufficiently. At last it just has to be ensured that no artificial magnetic field jumps occur at the midnight time – this

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
$ \Pi \cup \Im \Box \square \square \square A$	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICDD Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
ТССГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	26

might happen as the data are processed on a daily base and different days have different calibration files. To get rid of any jump the specific calculated offset values at the end of a day are stored in a separate file and taken into account to adjust a possible offset jump at midnight. The data of the following day will be shifted in that way that a possible midnight jump disappears. This only applies for a joint measurement campaign over a few days. If subsequent measurements are interrupted by more than a few hours an offset-jump adaption is neither needed nor used.

4.2.2.4 Application of Filter Mode dependent Time Shifts

Finally the timestamps of the measured data have to be adjusted. As the data are filtered by a mode dependent digital filter (refer to AD8 for details) the data are delayed for a certain amount of time. The timeshift was first recognized at the first Earth swing by, where the magnetic field data measured were in nearly perfect accordance to the magnetic field model of the Earth - except a tiny time shift of a few seconds. This behavior was later proofed and tested with the FGM spare unit at Imperial College. The theoretical timeshifts - verified by this test - are compiled in the following table. The shifts are valid for the actual primary sensor, which is usually the OB sensor. The table shows the times to be added to the time stamp of the vector to get the real physical event time:

SID	Mode Name	Packet Length [s]	Time to add to PRIMARY data timestamp [s]
SID1	Minimum	1024	223.7
SID2	Normal	32	8.2
SID3	Burst	16	0
SID4	Medium	32	1.35
SID5	Low	128	27.7
SID6	Test	16	0

For the SECONDARY vectors the situation is different as these vectors are not filtered but just picked out of the data stream. The following table applies for the time shift of the SECONDARY vectors.

SID	Mode Name	Packet Length [s]	Time to add to SECONDARY data timestamp [s]
SID1	Minimum	1024	1023.95
SID2	Normal	32	31.95
SID3	Burst	16	15.95
SID4	Medium	32	31.95
SID5	Low	128	127.95

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 27

At this stage the data processing for generation calibrated LEVEL_A data in Instrument coordinates is complete. The created data files contain the following entities:

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, INSTRUMENT COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, INSTRUMENT COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, INSTRUMENT COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
Т	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KELVIN
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 28

4.3 Generation of LEVEL_B Data

4.3.1 Rotation from Instrument Coordinates to s/c-Coordinates

At the next stage the calibrated data in instrument coordinates (URF, in uvw-coordinates) have to be rotated to s/c-coordinates. This operation is defined by a fixed rotation, specific for the IB and OB sensor. The rotation matrices have been measured on ground at the ESTEC cleanroom using an optical measurement system for determination the mounting angles of the sensor wrt. the stowed and deployed boom orientations. The coefficients of the rotation matrices $\underline{R_{UVW2SC}}$ are stored in the RPCMAG_SC_ALIGN.TXT file located in the CALIB directory. The desired magnetic field is given by:

$$\underline{\underline{B}}_{s/c}^{IB} = \underline{\underline{R}_{UVW2SC}}^{IB} \underline{\underline{B}}_{URF}^{IB}$$
$$\underline{\underline{B}}_{s/c}^{OB} = \underline{\underline{R}_{UVW2SC}}^{OB} \underline{\underline{B}}_{URF}^{OB}$$

After this operation the data are available in s/c-coordinates, called LEVEL_B data.

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
Т	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KELVIN
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	29

4.4 Generation of LEVEL_C Data

4.4.1 Rotation from s/c-Coordinates to Celestial Coordinates

For a meaningful interpretation of the magnetic field data, a dynamic rotation from s/ccoordinates to a celestial coordinate system is needed. As ROSETTA is a deep space mission the ECLIPJ2000 frame ^{c)} was chosen as a convenient celestial coordinate system. The ECLIPJ2000 frame is related to the Equinox of the EPOCH J2000. It is a righthanded system with X pointing from the Sun to Vernal Equinox, Y perpendicular to X in the ecliptic plane, and Z perpendicular to the ecliptic plane, pointing up.

The rotation from s/c-coordinates

$$\underline{B}_{ECLIP}^{IB} = \underline{R}_{SC2ECLIP}(t, \underline{r}) \ \underline{B}_{s/c}^{IB}$$
$$\underline{B}_{ECLIP}^{OB} = \underline{R}_{SC2ECLIP}(t, \underline{r}) \ \underline{B}_{s/c}^{OB}$$

to the ECLIPJ2000 frame is dependent on time and location of ROSETTA as the spacecraft changes its attitude along its trajectory. To calculate the rotation matrices two possibilities are available. Historically this was done using the OASW (orbit and attitude s/w) and the right ATNR (nominal Attitude files) and ORER, ORHR, ORMR,... file (Trajectory position files wrt. to SUN, EARTH, MARS,...) provided by ESA FDT (flight dynamics team). During the proceeding mission also SPICE kernels for ROSETTA were available, which make it much easier to evaluate the right position and orientation of ROSETTA. Currently the basic transformation to ECLIPJ2000 coordinates is done with the OASW library of ESA, while all further analysis of the ROSETTA data is performed using the powerful SPICE routines.

^{c)}Starting from the ECLIPJ2000 frame it is easy to transform the data any coordinate system reasonable for a specific mission phase, e.g. GSE-, MSO-, CSO-coordinates. This can be done by application of the right SPICE kernel and the SPICE transformation routines widely available for all major programming languages.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 30

After the described rotation the data are available in ECLIPJ2000-coordinates, called LEVEL_C data.

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
POSITION_X	SPACECRAFT POSITION, X COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER
POSITION_Y	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Y COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER
POSITION_Z	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Z COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	31

4.5 Generation of LEVEL_D Data

The LEVEL_D data product does not exist anymore. The analysis s/w is just capable to generate so called LEVEL_D plots which show the differences between the OB and IB timeseries. Regarding the calibration, LEVEL_D plots do not play any role.

4.6 Generation of LEVEL_E Data

LEVEL_E data are averaged CALIBRATED LEVEL_A data. The data are averaged in the time domain and represent the magnetic field in instrument coordinates. LEVEL_E data are usually not generated in the standard archive process. The average is calculated in the following way. All data within a given average interval of n seconds are summed up and divided by the number of data in this interval. The timetag of such a newly averaged data point is the time of the middle of the regarded average interval.

The following data are available as LEVEL_E data.

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, INSTRUMENT-COORDINATES,
	1s AVERAGE, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, INSTRUMENT-COORDINATES,
	1s AVERAGE, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, INSTRUMENT-COORDINATES,
	1s AVERAGE, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 32

4.7 Generation of LEVEL_F Data

LEVEL_F data are averaged LEVEL_B or - in case of heater disturbance - LEVEL_K data. The data are averaged in the time domain and represent the magnetic field in s/c-coordinates. LEVEL_F data are generated in the standard archive process with an average interval of one second. The average is calculated in the following way. All data within a given average interval of 1s are summed up and divided by the number of data in this interval. The timetag of such a newly averaged data point is the time of the middle of the regarded average interval.

The following data are available as LEVEL_F data.

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES, 1s AVERAGE
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES, 1s AVERAGE
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES, 1s AVERAGE
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 33

4.8 Generation of LEVEL_G Data

LEVEL_G data are averaged LEVEL_C or - in case of heater disturbance - LEVEL_L data. The data are averaged in the time domain and represent the magnetic field in ECLIPJ2000-coordinates. LEVEL_G data are generated in the standard archive process with an average interval of one second. The average is calculated in the following way. All data within a given average interval of 1s are summed up and divided by the number of data in this interval. The timetag of such a newly averaged data point is the time of the middle of the regarded average interval.

The following data are available as LEVEL_G data.

Data	Description	
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF	
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,	
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF	
POSITION_X	SPACECRAFT POSITION, X COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
POSITION_Y	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Y COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
POSITION_Z	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Z COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,	
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	1s-AVERAGE, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA	
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,	
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	1s-AVERAGE, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA	
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,	
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	1s-AVERAGE, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA	
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3	
ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
---	-----------------------------	-----------------------------
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 34

4.9 Generation of LEVEL_H Data

LEVEL_H data are Reaction wheel and LAP disturbance corrected data. As input the LEVEL_C or — in case of heater disturbed data — LEVEL_L data are taken. Thus the data represent the magnetic field in ECLIPJ2000 coordinates.

During the ROSETTA mission the reaction wheels, which control the attitude of the s/c, turned out to create also a magnetic disturbance signature. The dynamically changing rotation frequencies of the four wheels cause AC disturbances of the magnetic field data. They occur not at the original rotation frequencies but they are folded down into the measurement frequency range according to the Nyquist sampling theorem. Thus it this an effect of aliasing. The disturbance is in the order of about 1 nanotesla and can be eliminated, as the reaction wheel frequencies are known at any time. Elimination is only reasonable for the primary sensor data in MEDIUM mode (5 vectors/s) and BURST mode (20 vectors/s) as only here the disturbance emerges significantly from the background signal/noise.

Besides this tests revealed that also the LAP instrument generates disturbances of fixed but mode dependent disturbances lines in the frequency spectrum. These lines will be eliminated by the reaction wheel disturbance purging algorithm as well. Data generation Procedure:

- Provide the Reaction wheel frequency data from the DDS (binary coded) or the Imperial college data server (SCHK7.TXT files, ASCII)
- For each time needed you have to calculate the measurement mode dependent disturbance frequency, which will occur in the data. This has to be done according to the folding theorem and the actual used sampling- and resulting Nyquist frequency.
- Fourier-Transform the magnetic field data into the frequency domain and generate a dynamic spectrum (day by day).
- For each time interval localize the 4 actual disturbed frequencies in the spectrum. In stripes of width Δf around the regarded local frequencies f the amplitudes have to be set to the values which occur in the original spectrum just below or above the regarded stripe. Add some appropriate noise to the substituted amplitudes. After having processed all data in this way, the originally clearly identifiable disturbance lines should not be visible anymore. Instead of them the slightly noisy values of the neighborhood of those lines should substitute them and only the background should be visible.
- The LAP disturbance is eliminated in a similar way: LAP generates horizontal lines in the frequency spectrum (constant frequency). The elimination is done by substituting the actual amplitudes of these line (i.e a stripe of width Δf around this lines) by the noisy background value.

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
	Issue: Revision:	1 0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Date: Page:	February 8, 2010 35

• Fourier-transform the dynamic spectrum back to the time domain to create the purged time series of LEVEL_H data.

For more details on the reaction wheel/LAP disturbances refer to RO-IGEP-TR0012, Reaction Wheel Disturbance Investigation.

The following data are available as LEVEL_H data.

Data	Description	
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF	
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,	
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF	
POSITION_X	SPACECRAFT POSITION, X COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
POSITION_Y	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Y COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
POSITION_Z	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Z COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA;	
	TEMPERATURE, REACTION WHEEL AND LAP DISTURBANCE	
	CORRECTED; ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA	
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA;	
	TEMPERATURE, REACTION WHEEL AND LAP DISTURBANCE	
	CORRECTED; ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA	
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA;	
	TEMPERATURE, REACTION WHEEL AND LAP DISTURBANCE	
	CORRECTED; ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA	
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3	

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 36

4.10 Generation of LEVEL_I Data

LEVEL_I data are averaged LEVEL_H data. The data are averaged in the time domain and represent the magnetic field in ECLIPJ2000-coordinates. LEVEL_I data are not generated in the standard archive process. The average is calculated in the following way. All data within a given average interval of 1s are summed up and divided by the number of data in this interval. The timetag of such a newly averaged data point is the time of the middle of the regarded average interval.

The following data are available as LEVEL_I data.

Data	Description	
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF	
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,	
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF	
POSITION_X	SPACECRAFT POSITION, X COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
POSITION_Y	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Y COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
POSITION_Z	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Z COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER	
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA;	
	TEMPERATURE, REACTION WHEEL AND LAP DISTURBANCE	
	CORRECTED; ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA, 1s-AVERAGE	
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA;	
	TEMPERATURE, REACTION WHEEL AND LAP DISTURBANCE	
	CORRECTED; ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA, 1s-AVERAGE	
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA;	
	TEMPERATURE, REACTION WHEEL AND LAP DISTURBANCE	
	CORRECTED; ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES,	
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA 1s-AVERAGE	
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3	

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLI Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	37

4.11 Generation of LEVEL_J Data

This level is intended to contain magnetic field data which have been transformed by a Principal component analysis (PCA). The result would be three file :

- A file with the correlated contribution of OB and IB sensor, representing the external magnetic field.
- A file with the uncorrelated contribution of the OB sensor, representing the s/c noise at the location of the OB sensor.
- A file with the uncorrelated contribution of the IB sensor, representing the s/c noise at the location of the IB sensor.

As input for the PCA average LEVEL_G or LEVEL_I (in case of heater disturbance) data are taken.

The creation of LEVEL_J data is not part of the standard data archive generation process.

4.12 Generation of LEVEL_K Data

During the first Earth Swing by it happened that the ROSETTA LANDER tested some heaters which were driven by pulse width modulated square wave currents producing magnetic field disturbance signatures in the order of 0.5 nT - 1.5 nT at the location of the RPCMAG OB sensor^d.

There are two methods for the heater signature elimination:

- An automatic elimination using only RPCMAG data: METHOD1 (cf. chapter 4.12.1)
- A manual elimination deriving the disturbed times from ROMAP data: METHOD2 (cf. chapter 4.12.2)

^d)The Lander magnetometer ROMAP was disturbed by these currents in the order of 1000nT - 2000 nT

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 38

After the successful heater disturbance elimination the purged data are available in s/c-coordinates, called LEVEL_K data.

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES, HEATER
	DISTURBANCE ELIMINATED, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES, HEATER
	DISTURBANCE ELIMINATED, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, S/C-COORDINATES, HEATER
	DISTURBANCE ELIMINATED, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
Т	TEMPERATURE OF THE RPCMAG SENSOR.
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KELVIN
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
IGLГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	39

4.12.1 Heater Disturbance Elimination: Method 1

This section investigates the impact of the Lander heaters - measured at ESB1 - to the MAG OB sensor and presents an automatic method to eliminate these disturbances.

Figure 1 shows a randomly chosen interval (March 3, 00:00 - 24:00) of RPCMAG OB data. On the first view these data look like proper magnetic field data. If we, however, zoom into the data, as done for randomly chosen interval of 30 minutes, we can clearly identify a disturbing signal in shape of a square wave with a period of T=30 s. The amplitude is not constant, but appearing with different levels. This is related to different kind of heaters (respective different currents) located on the Lander.

This disturbed signal in the B_x, B_y, B_z components (ECLIPJ2000-coordinates) is redisplayed in Figure 2. As it is easier to perform a convenient signal processing on one component with a clearly disturbed signal rather than on three slightly disturbed ones, the idea arose to turn the measured magnetic field signal into a minimum variance system. The result of this preprocessing transformation can be impressively seen in Figure 3. The complete disturbance is now superimposed on the B_x signal whereas the B_y and B_z components in the Minimum variance system are completely purged.

The real processing is visualized in Figure 4. The most upper panels shows the preprocessed data rotated into the B_x component of the minimum variance system (which is here actually the component with the maximum variance.)

The second panel shows the detection of the jumps. This is done using a moving variance indicator. A short time variance of just a few samples is evaluated and shifted step by step over the whole times series (dark blue curve). As result strong positive peaks occur at the times of the jumps, and a nearly flat signal dominates the other times. In a second step a threshold (light blue line) has to be defined to distinguish between jumps and "normal" data. Everything below this threshold belongs to "true" data, everything above this threshold is interpreted as jump caused by the heaters.

The third panel shows the separated step in the B_x time series. The times of the jumps and intermediate values are cut out.

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 40



Figure 1: Original and zoomed Signal of March 3 (ECLIPJ2000).

	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
R O S E T T A	Issue:	1
	Revision:	0
ICED Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik	Date:	February 8, 2010
ТGLГ Technische Universität Braunschweig	Page:	41



Figure 2: Original Signal disturbed by the LANDER heaters

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	- Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 42



Figure 3: Disturbed signal rotated the Minimum Variance System

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 43

In the fourth panel the desired time series of "true" data is reconstructed. To do this the height of the jumps has to be computed individually for each jump. This height (level difference) is evaluated using short time averages of the last values of the level just before the jump and the average of the values just after the jump. With these data available it is possible to proceed step by step through the time series and to "flatten" all the infected levels. As the result the interrupted black-red time series is obtained.



Figure 4: Processing of the heater disturbed Signal

ROSETTA	Document:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
	Issue: Revision:	$\begin{bmatrix} 1\\0 \end{bmatrix}$
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Date: Page:	February 8, 2010 44

The last step of the jump elimination can be seen in the bottom panels. The time gaps have been closed by resampling and interpolating the signal at the times of a jump. For a better comparison the original disturbed time series (black) and the improved signal (orange) are displayed.

At the very last processing step the corrected signal has to be rotated back from the minimum variance system to the original s/c frame. The result is shown in Figure 5. The complete process can run quasi automatically to generate corrected PDS data.



Figure 5: Processed Signal rotated back to s/c coordinate System

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 45

4.12.2 Heater Disturbance Elimination: Method 2

This method uses the doubtful advantage that the heater disturbances at the Lander magnetometer ROMAP were much higher than the ones at the location of the RPC-MAG sensor. Thus a disturbance identification and classification using the ROMAP instrument as a primary detector seems to be a promising mean. The correction procedure of RPC-MAG data using ROMAP data is visualized in the following diagram. The major feature of the process is a two stage procedure. At the first stage all disturbed times will be identified in the ROMAP data. Additionally the level of disturbance will be assigned to the actual activated heaters. In the second stage the RPC-MAG data will be purged using this advance information. The offset of data in the infected time intervals will be substituted by a new value according to the actual used heaters. Finally a purged timeseries is available.

It should be mentioned that LEVEL_K data are only needed for the ESB1 phase, as this was the only time were the Lander heaters were tested. After the release of the Lander at the Comet the heaters will not cause any orbiter disturbance anymore.

ROSETTA		Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Technische Universität Braunsch	ē	Revision: Date: Page:	6 February 8, 2010 46
ROMAP		RP	C-MAG
	Elim		C-MAG
ROMAP Identify number of activated heaters (1-6 at ESB1) and perform a coarse correction.		ninate time sh	
Identify number of activated heaters (1-6 at	RPC	ninate time sh C-MAG data	ift between ROMAP a
Identify number of activated heaters (1-6 at	RPC	ninate time sh C-MAG data	ift between ROMAP a that might have occur
Identify number of activated heaters (1-6 at ESB1) and perform a coarse correction.	RPC due	ninate time sh C-MAG data	ift between ROMAP a that might have occur nsated filter delays



Eliminate time intervals with uncertain disturbance signatures (this regards almost only transient switch on/off events)

Loss of 0-6 data points in a interval of 30 s.

manual process



Identification of activated Heaters (A, B, C, D, E, F) and specific Correction.

Identification: manual process Correction: automatic process

 \Rightarrow ROMAP_LEVEL_2

Elimination of long term time dependent trends in the disturbance signatures of individual heaters and any occurring combination of heaters.

manual process

 \Rightarrow ROMAP_LEVEL_3



Interpolation of ROMAP timestamps/data (still ± 0.5 s after previous correction step) Correction of RPC-MAG data. Only two kinds of heaters (compartment & Battery) are distinguished (their signatures differ by about 20 nT at the location of the ROMAP sensor and are just separable at the RPC-MAG sensor position. The signatures of the other heaters are not resolvable at the RPC-MAG sensor location.)

The RPC-MAG correction has a higher data point loss rate during the switch on/off events - about 3 s-12 s are disturbed within a 30 s switch interval.

automatic process



Add the time intervals where a correction is not possible (i.e ROMAP is switched off, TLM error, Sensor Saturation,...)

manual process



Re-insertion of the original time differences between ROMAP and RPC-MAG. Interpolation of actual timestamps to original timestamps; eliminated points will not be taken into account.

automatic process

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 47

4.13 Generation of LEVEL_L Data

The LEVEL_L data represent Heater corrected data in ECLIPJ2000 coordinates. Thus they will be generated by rotating the LEVEL_K data from s/c-coordinates to the ECLIPJ2000 frame using either the ESA OASW S/W or SPICE kernels and S/W routines. The data are available in the following format.

Data	Description
TIME_UTC	UTC TIME OF OBSERVATION: YYYY-MM-DDTHH:MM:SS.FFFFFF
TIME_OBT	S/C CLOCK AT OBSERVATION TIME,
	SECONDS SINCE 00:00 AT 1.1.2003: SSSSSSSSSSSSFFFFF
POSITION_X	SPACECRAFT POSITION, X COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER
POSITION_Y	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Y COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER
POSITION_Z	SPACECRAFT POSITION, Z COMPONENT, ECLIPJ2000
	VALUE IS GIVEN IN KILOMETER
BX	MAGNETIC FIELD X COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ20000-COORDINATES, HEATER
	DISTURBANCE ELIMINATED, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BY	MAGNETIC FIELD Y COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES, HEATER
	DISTURBANCE ELIMINATED, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
BZ	MAGNETIC FIELD Z COMPONENT, CALIBRATED DATA,
	TEMPERATURE CORRECTED, ECLIPJ2000-COORDINATES, HEATER
	DISTURBANCE ELIMINATED, VALUE IS GIVEN IN NANOTESLA
QUALITY	QUALITY FLAG, cf. EAICD chapter 3.3

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 48

A Abbreviations

Item	Meaning
$\overline{a_i}$	Fit coefficients for temperature dependent offset
ADC	Analog Digital Converter
ATNR	Attitude file provided by FDT
\underline{B}^c	Magnetic calibration field generated by coil system
$\frac{D}{B^c}$	Calibrated Magnetic field measured by sensor s
$\frac{D_s}{B^{off}}$	Offset of the magnetometer [nT]
$\frac{D}{D^{off}}$	
$\frac{D_k}{D^m}$	Polynomial Fit coefficients for the sensor offset vs. temperature
\underline{D} D^{or}	Measured magnetic field raw data, offset & residual field corrected $[nT]$
$ \frac{\underline{B}_{s}^{c}}{\underline{B}^{off}} \\ \frac{\underline{B}_{k}^{off}}{\underline{B}_{k}^{m}} \\ \underline{B}^{or} \\ \underline{B}^{r} $	$= \underline{B}^{off} + \underline{B}^{res}$, Offset + Residual field at CoC [enT]
	Magnetic field raw data
$B^r_{0^\circ}$	Magnetic raw data, measured in normal position (0°) [enT] Magnetic raw data, measured in turned position (180°) [enT]
$B^r_{180^\circ} \ \underline{B}^{res}$	Magnetic raw data, measured in turned position (180°)[enT]
$\frac{B}{e^{\circ}C}$	Residual field of the coil system
	Engineering degrees centigrade units
$\underline{B}^{s}_{ECLIP}$	Magnetic field measured by sensor s in ECLIPJ2000 coordinates
$\frac{\underline{B}_{s/c}^s}{\underline{B}_{URF}^s}$	Magnetic field measured by sensor s in s/c- coordinates
	Magnetic field measured by sensor s in Instrument coordinates
c_0, c_1, c_2, c_3	Fit coefficients of the sensor thermistor
CoC	Center of Coil system
CSO	Cometo-centric solar orbital coordinates
DDS	Data Distribution System
DPU	Digital Processing Unit
enT	Engineering NanoTesla units
ECD	applicable after nominal conversion of ADC counts
ESB	Earth Swing by
$\underline{\underline{F}}$	$=\underline{SOR}$, Transfer Matrix
FGM	Fluxgate Magnetometer
FDT	Flight Dynamics Team of ESOC
FM	Flight Model
FS	Flight Spare Unit
FSDPU GSE	Flight Spare Digital Processing Unit
	Geocentric Solar Ecliptic coordinates
HGA	High Gain Antenna Hausslaaning data
HK	Housekeeping data
i IB	component x y z Inboard Sensor
$\frac{K}{\overline{k_i}}$	Geometric correction Matrix for alignment angles Geometric correction factors for sensitivities
$egin{array}{l} \lambda, \mu, u \ { m LAP} \end{array}$	Euler rotation angles RPC instrument: Langmuir Probe
	14 C monument. Dangmun 1 100e

ROSETTA	Document: Issue:	RO-IGEP-TR0028 1
IGEP Institut für Geophysik u. extraterr. Physik Technische Universität Braunschweig	Revision: Date: Page:	0 February 8, 2010 49

Item	Meaning
MCF	Magnetic calibration Facility
MSO	Mars centered solar orbital coordinates
$\underline{\underline{O}}$	Orthogonalisation matrix
OASW	Orbit and Attitude Software, provided by ESA
OB	Outboard Sensor
OBDH	Onboard Data handling system
$\underline{\omega}$	$= \underline{\underline{O}}^{-1}$, Inverse orthogonalisation matrix
ORER	Orbit and Position file (related to EARTH) provided by FDT
ORHR	Orbit and Position file (related to SUN) provided by FDT
ORMR	Orbit and Position file (related to MARS) provided by FDT
$P_3(T)$	3rd order Fit-polynomial of Temperature
$p_{s,k,i}$	fit coefficient of sensor s , order k and component i
$\stackrel{\phi}{=}_{\mathrm{PIU}}$	$= \underline{\underline{F}}^{-1}$, Inverse Transfer Matrix
PIU	Power interface unit
\underline{R}	Rotation matrix of sensor vs. coil system
$\frac{R}{\rho}$	$= \underline{R}^{-1}$, Inverse rotation matrix
$\bar{\bar{S}}$	Sensitivity matrix
$s = \frac{1}{2}$	Sensor index $s = \{ IB \mid OB \}$
σ	$= \underline{S}^{-1}$, Inverse sensitivity matrix
$\sigma_{k,i}$	Polynomial Fit coefficient for sensitivity vs. temperature.
10,0	Coefficient of order k for the sensor component i
Т	Temperature
T_i	Temperature of measurement i
TLM	Telemetry
T_s^O	Additional Temperature offset of sensor Thermistor s
T_s^c	Temperature of sensor s, calibrated data [°C]
T_s^r	Temperature of sensor s, raw data [e°C]
5	Sensor IB OB
s/c	spacecraft
ÚRF	Unit Reference Frame, Instrument–Coordinates
$U_{\mathrm{T, IB}}$	IB–Temperature data [V], measured
U _{T,OB}	OB–Temperature data [V], measured
uvw	Instrument coordinate axes
ξ_{ij}	Temperature dependent alignment angle (ij component)
$\xi^0_{k,ij}$	Polynomial Fit coefficient for misalignment angle vs. temperature.
hii	